IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA CASE NO. 65193

MICHAEL J. SCHOFIELD,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Mar 20 2015 08:19 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

VS.

STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

APPEAL

From the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County District Court Case No. C-13-287009-1

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Karen K. Wong
Nevada Bar No. 13284
Wong Appellate Law
9484 S. Eastern Ave., #408
Las Vegas, Nevada 89123
(702) 830-6080
karen.wong@wongappellatelaw.com

Attorney for Appellant

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following are persons and entities as described in NRAP 26.1(a), and must be disclosed:

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a judgment of conviction, entered on July 28, 2014. (JA 1736.) The notice of appeal was filed on March 6, 2014, and is treated as filed on the date the judgment of conviction was entered under NRAP 4(b)(2). This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal under NRS 177.015(3).

ROUTING STATEMENT

This is a direct appeal from a judgment of conviction for first-degree kidnapping, a category A felony. This case is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court by exception to NRAP 17(b)(1) (stating a case will be presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals if it is a "direct appeal from a judgment of conviction based on a jury verdict that does not involve a conviction for any offenses that are category A or category B felonies"). In addition, this case raises questions of first impression in Nevada and should be considered by the Supreme Court under NRAP 17(a)(13). The issues of first impression include the interpretation and constitutionality of NRS 200.310, as related to the elements of first-degree kidnapping of a minor. (OB at 8–24.)

NEVADA STATUTES

NRS 200.310 Degrees.

- 1. A person who willfully seizes, confines, inveigles, entices, decoys, abducts, conceals, kidnaps or carries away a person by any means whatsoever with the intent to hold or detain, or who holds or detains, the person for ransom, or reward, or for the purpose of committing sexual assault, extortion or robbery upon or from the person, or for the purpose of killing the person or inflicting substantial bodily harm upon the person, or to exact from relatives, friends, or any other person any money or valuable thing for the return or disposition of the kidnapped person, and a person who leads, takes, entices, or carries away or detains any minor with the intent to keep, imprison, or confine the minor from his or her parents, guardians, or any other person having lawful custody of the minor, or with the intent to hold the minor to unlawful service, or perpetrate upon the person of the minor any unlawful act is guilty of kidnapping in the first degree which is a category A felony.
- 2. A person who willfully and without authority of law seizes, inveigles, takes, carries away or kidnaps another person with the intent to keep the person secretly imprisoned within the State, or for the purpose of conveying the person out of the State without authority of law, or in any manner held to service or detained against the person's will, is guilty of kidnapping in the second degree which is a category B felony.

NRS 200.359 Detention, concealment or removal of child from person having lawful custody or from jurisdiction of court: Penalties; limitation on issuance of arrest warrant; restitution; exceptions.

- 1. A person having a limited right of custody to a child by operation of law or pursuant to an order, judgment or decree of any court, including a judgment or decree which grants another person rights to custody or visitation of the child, or any parent having no right of custody to the child, who:
- (a) In violation of an order, judgment or decree of any court willfully detains, conceals or removes the child from a parent, guardian or other person having lawful custody or a right of visitation of the child; or
- (b) In the case of an order, judgment or decree of any court that does not specify when the right to physical custody or visitation is to be exercised, removes the child from the jurisdiction of the court without the consent of either the court or all persons who have the right to custody or visitation,

is guilty of a category D felony and shall be punished as provided in NRS 193.130.

. . . .

- 4. Before an arrest warrant may be issued for a violation of this section, the court must find that:
 - (a) This is the home state of the child, as defined in NRS 125A.085; and
- (b) There is cause to believe that the entry of a court order in a civil proceeding brought pursuant to chapter 125, 125A or 125C of NRS will not be effective to enforce the rights of the parties and would not be in the best interests of the child.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Whether a parent's intent to bring his child to a grocery store can constitute "intent to keep" the minor from his guardians and ground a conviction for first-degree kidnapping?
- II. Whether a parent, as a matter of law, can have the intent to keep his child from the child's "parents, guardians, or any other person having lawful custody" under the child-kidnapping portion of the first-degree kidnapping statute?
- III. Whether the trial court committed plain error by failing to instruct the jury on movement incidental to child abuse in accordance with *Mendoza v. State*, 122 Nev. 267, 130 P.3d 176 (2006)?
- IV. Whether the trial court abused its discretion in refusing Mr. Schofield's request to instruct the jury that lack of the guardians' consent was an essential element of the child kidnapping charge, thus requiring the jury to find lack of consent beyond a reasonable doubt?
 - V. Whether sufficient evidence supports the conviction for first-degree kidnapping under a correct interpretation of the statute and the fact that Mr. Schofield did not succeed in leaving with his son?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case concerns a father convicted of first-degree kidnapping for trying to take his teenage son to the store with him. The son's grandparents had been appointed guardians years earlier, but the father and son maintained a close relationship, which included overnight visits and long periods of living together. The grandparents and father all shared an active role in parenting the son.

One day during a visit at the grandparents' house, the father got into an argument with his son about whether the son would accompany him to the store. When the son refused, the father—in an admittedly disproportionate act of discipline—grabbed the son in a headlock and forced him to the father's minivan. The grandparents, upset by the use of force and believing that the son was being choked, yelled at the father to stop and called 911. Police then intervened. A jury found the father guilty of child abuse and first-degree kidnapping. The father was sentenced to 13 to 60 months for child abuse and 5 to 15 years for kidnapping.

The father readily admitted his guilt on the child abuse charge; however, neither he nor the guardians believe a kidnapping was even attempted. The trial court misinterpreted the *intent to keep* requirement of child kidnapping, failed to recognize that a parent cannot commit first-degree child kidnapping as a matter of law, failed to instruct the jury in accordance with *Mendoza*, and failed to instruct the jury on lack of consent as an element of the offense. Correctly interpreting the law, insufficient evidence supports Mr. Schofield's first-degree kidnapping conviction.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

In 2001, the defendant, Michael John Schofield ("Mr. Schofield") could not care for his son, Michael Joshua Schofield ("Michael"), and Mr. Schofield's mother and stepfather, Patricia and Norman Duplissie ("Pat" and "Norman," respectively), became Michael's legal guardians. (3AA 688–89, 5AA 1094.) Michael lived with his father off and on, sometimes for years at a time, but Mr. Schofield never formally terminated the guardianship. (3AA 736). In 2012, Michael returned to live with his grandparents, but he maintained a close relationship with his father. (*See* 2AA 475, 3AA 555, 739–40.) Mr. Schofield had an active role in his son's life—the two watched football and played catch together "just about every Sunday," and in the off-season would go the park, play basketball, watch movies, or just "hang out." (3AA 558, 562, 693.) Mr. Schofield, Pat and Norman all had a hand in raising Michael. (3AA 689.)

On Sunday, January 6, 2013, one of the typical days for Michael and Mr. Schofield to spend together, Mr. Schofield rang the doorbell of his mother and stepfather's house. (2AA 479.) Norman opened the door and allowed Mr. Schofield to come inside. (3AA 578, 697.) Mr. Schofield had come to see his son, and after a brief conversation, Norman went to do something else. (3AA 698.) Mr. Schofield found Michael and asked him to go outside in front of the house to play catch. (2AA 482, 3AA 579.) Michael agreed. (2AA 483.)

The testimony differs as to whether Michael and his father went outside first, but soon after, Mr. Schofield, Pat, and Michael had a discussion near the front door. (2AA 485, 3AA 582–83, 650.) Mr. Schofield realized he had left something at the store and told Michael to go with him to retrieve it. (2AA 485, 3AA 585, 5AA 1003.) Michael testified that Pat did not want him to accompany his father because his father did not "look right" and looked "tired." (2AA 485–86.) Pat testified that Michael did not want to go and that, at first, she had said Michael did not have to go with his father. (3AA 583–84.) Following that, however, she testified that she changed her mind: "Michael, you can go to the store with your dad, it won't hurt you. . . . Michael, go to the store with your dad. It's not going to hurt you. You know, it's the right thing to do." (3AA 585; see also 3AA 650.) Mr. Schofield recalled that Pat had said to Michael: "[D]on't say no to your father, go." (5AA 1007.) After Michael again refused, Mr. Schofield, trying to exercise parental authority, stated: "[Y]ou're going to go or I'm going to make you go." (5AA 1008.) Michael recalled this statement as: "You're going to listen to me, I'm your father, and if you don't listen, I'm going to break your teeth." (2AA 486–87.)

Mr. Schofield and Michael went outside either to continue the discussion or to throw the football, but the two argued. (2AA 486–89.) Michael came back in and ran around the first floor of the house. (2AA 489, 3AA 589.) Mr. Schofield chased him and caught up with him in the living/dining area. (2AA 489, 3AA

¹ Earlier that day, Pat and Norman had brought cold medicine over to Mr. Schofield because he was not feeling well. (3AA 570–72.)

590.) Pat yelled at them to stop and get outside, and threatened to call 911. (3AA 589–90.) A chair was knocked over, and the dog "was barking like crazy." (3AA 594.) In the commotion, Pat called 911. (3AA 590.) After Pat called 911, Mr. Schofield grabbed Michael and put Michael in a headlock.² (2AA 491, 3AA 658.)

Norman came over from the kitchen and yelled at Mr. Schofield to stop because he "felt" that Mr. Schofield was hurting Michael. (3AA 700, 702, 705.) Mr. Schofield was saying to Michael: "You're going to do what I . . . tell you and getting in that . . . car because I'm your . . . father, and you'll do what I tell you to do." (3AA 705.) Mr. Schofield pushed Michael outside. (2AA 495–96.) Norman stopped to place their dog in its cage, but otherwise, Norman and Pat both followed Mr. Schofield and Michael outside. (3AA 613, 710, 727.)

Mr. Schofield's van was parked in the driveway, close to the front door of the house. (2AA 499.) Mr. Schofield threw Michael in the passenger seat. (3AA 502.) Neighbors who happened to be off-duty police officers then ran over and tackled Mr. Schofield to the ground. (3AA 505, 613, 618–19, 728–29.) Another police officer arrived in her patrol car, and Mr. Schofield was handcuffed and placed inside the vehicle. (4AA 813.) While in the patrol car, Mr. Schofield was angry and "screamed about how his son doesn't listen to him so he makes him

² Michael described the headlock as a "chokehold" and indicated that he had trouble breathing; however, the jury acquitted Mr. Schofield of the Battery Constituting Domestic Violence – Strangulation charge, indicating a finding that Mr. Schofield did not intentionally impede Michael's breathing.

listen." (4AA 817.) Mr. Schofield explained on the stand that "it was me trying to discipline my child, I didn't feel like I should be arrested " (5AA 1014.)

II. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

The State charged Mr. Schofield with burglary, child abuse, neglect or endangerment, battery domestic violence – strangulation, and first-degree kidnapping. Trial began on January 27, 2014, and lasted six days. (AA 23–1185.) On the fourth day, Mr. Schofield decided to represent himself.³ (4AA 870.) Jury Instructions 10 through 12 involved the kidnapping charge. (5AA 1196–1198) Jury Instruction No. 10 stated, as relevant here:

Every person who leads, takes, entices, or carries away, or detains, any minor, with the intent to keep, imprison, or confine the minor from his parents, guardians, or any other person having lawful custody of the minor is guilty of kidnapping in the first degree. . . .

(5AA 1196.) Mr. Schofield objected to the fact that Instruction No. 10 did not include any requirement that his actions were without parental permission.

(4AA 936.) Defendant interpreted the instruction as: "[I]f you have the parent's permission, you still don't have the right to take the child is what it's saying."

(4AA 940.) The court responded: "No, that's not what it's saying. And if you had

³ Following initial appearances, Mr. Schofield's counsel, John Parris, announced to the Court that he had represented the State's trial attorney on two separate traffic ticket matters. (1AA 25.) Mr. Schofield contends that this conflict, as well as the fact that Mr. Parris was paid by the State's star witness, caused ineffective assistance of counsel. Mr. Schofield, however, recognizes that an ineffective assistance of counsel claim is more appropriately raised in the first instance in a post-conviction proceeding pursuant to *Johnson v. State*, 117 Nev. 153, 160-61, 17 P.3d 1008 (2001).

the child—if you had the guardian's permission, it would not be first degree kidnapping." (4AA 941.) Essentially, the court agreed with Mr. Schofield regarding the requirement for lack of consent, but agreed with the State that the issue was one for argument rather than a jury instruction. (4AA 942–43.)

Jury Instruction No. 12 stated:

In order for you to find the defendant guilty of both first-degree kidnapping and an associated offense of battery domestic violence strangulation, you must also find beyond a reasonable doubt either:

- 1. That any movement of the victim was not incidental to the battery domestic violence strangulation;
- 2. That any incidental movement of the victim substantially increased the risk of harm to the victim over and above that necessarily present in the battery domestic violence strangulation;
- 3. That any incidental movement of the victim substantially exceeded that required to complete the battery domestic violence strangulation; or
- 4. The movement had an independent purpose or significance. (5AA 1198.)

During closing arguments, the prosecutor told the jury she would go through the elements of the kidnapping charge with them, and she read them Jury Instruction 10. (5AA 1134.) After describing Mr. Schofield's taking or carrying away of Michael to the car, she explained the *intent to keep* element of the statute:

So how do you know what he intended to? Wait, let me go back for a moment, where he, with the intent to keep, imprison or confine the minor from his parents or guardians. Right, Norman and Patricia. That's who he was taking away or intending to keep away from his parents or guardians. . . . So how do you know that he was intending to take that child from Norman and Patricia? Well, he said it himself, I'm fucking taking him. You will go with me because I'm your father. And he says—well, and acts are that he's taking Michael Joshua from the home, and that's where Norman and Patricia are. He's physically taking him from the safety of that home where Norman and Patricia are, taking him away from the home and he's putting them into a vehicle. Why? So he can take him away, and there's no safety, no Norman, no Patricia.

And they're all trying to stop him. Think about how many people were trying to stop the Defendant from taking little Michael. Little Michael tried to stop it, Norman tried to stop it, Patricia called 911, she tried to stop it. Liza from next door came, and so did Won. Five different people are trying to stop the Defendant from taking Michael Joshua.

(5AA 1134–35.) Later, in explaining the kidnapping charge, she entirely omits the requirement that Mr. Schofield have had an *intent to keep*, stating:

Kidnapping as it's charged in this Information and specific to this count, is his taking this kid away without the permission of his lawful guardians. There's nothing in the statute . . . that says he has to permanently keep the child, have the intention of permanently keeping the child. (5AA 1167.)

On February 3, 2014, the jury found Mr. Schofield not guilty of Burglary and Battery Constituting Domestic Violence – Strangulation. (5AA 1215.) The jury found Mr. Schofield guilty of Child Abuse, Neglect, or Endangerment and First Degree Kidnapping. (5AA 1215.)

On March 6, 2014, Mr. Schofield filed a Notice of Appeal. (5AA 1217.) The district court sentenced Mr. Schofield to 13 to 60 months for the child abuse conviction and 5 to 15 years for the kidnapping conviction. (6AA 1563.) The Judgment of Conviction was entered on July 28, 2014. (6AA 1563.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Four material errors of law permeated the trial proceedings below. First, the trial court misinterpreted the *intent to keep* requirement of the statute. *Keep*, in context, means a permanent keeping—something Mr. Schofield never intended. Second, the child-kidnapping statute should be interpreted not to apply to parents because the statute requires specific intent to keep the minor *from* his parents or guardians, and parents are covered instead by NRS 200.359. Third, the trial court committed plain error by failing to instruct the jury that a dual conviction of kidnapping and child abuse requires that the kidnapping not be merely incidental to the child abuse. Fourth, the trial court abused its discretion by refusing to instruct the jury on lack of consent as an essential element of the offense of child kidnapping. Finally, based on these errors of law and the plain fact that Mr. Schofield did not kidnap his son, there was insufficient evidence to support the first-degree kidnapping conviction. The kidnapping charge was a result of overzealous prosecution and should be reversed for the reasons below.

ARGUMENT

I. Mr. Schofield's intent to bring his son on a routine errand does not constitute "intent to keep" within the meaning of Nevada's first-degree kidnapping statute.

Under NRS 200.310, a person who takes away a minor with the intent to keep the minor from his or her parents, guardians, or any other person having lawful custody of the minor, is guilty of first-degree kidnapping—a category A felony in the same class as first-degree murder and sexual assault. The record

clearly shows that Mr. Schofield only intended to bring Michael to the store.

Mr. Schofield had no *intent to keep* his son from Pat and Norman; he was convicted under an erroneous interpretation of the specific intent element of the statute. Mr. Schofield's conviction for first-degree kidnapping should be reversed.

A. Standard of Review and Applicable Law

An appellate court reviews questions of statutory interpretation de novo. *Clay v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court of State*, 305 P.3d 898, 902 (Nev. 2013). When interpreting a statute, the Court must look first to the plain language of the statute. *Id.* In doing so, the statute must be read as a whole so that words or phrases are not rendered superfluous. *Flamingo Paradise Gaming, L.L.C. v. Chanos*, 125 Nev. 502, 509, 217 P.3d 546, 551 (2009).

If the plain language is ambiguous, then the Court will try to effectuate the intent of the Legislature. *Zgombic v. State*, 106 Nev. 571, 575, 798 P.2d 548, 551 (1990). The Court will construe statutory language to avoid absurd or unreasonable results; but even if a result is not patently absurd, the Court may interpret the statute to avoid a result at odds with legislative intent. *Id.* at 576, 798 P.2d at 551 ("While this result is not patently absurd or unreasonable, we do not believe that this was the public policy which the legislature intended"). In the criminal context, the Court must strictly construe an ambiguous statue in favor of the defendant. *Id.* at 575, 798 P.2d at 551. Furthermore, a statute should be construed to avoid an unconstitutional interpretation. *State v. Kopp*, 118 Nev. 199, 202, 43 P.3d 340, 342 (2002).

B. The plain language of NRS 200.310 shows that "intent to keep" requires a specific purpose to keep the minor from his parents or guardians permanently—an intent Mr. Schofield did not have.

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