IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MICHAEL J. SCHOFIELD,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

KAREN K. WONG, ESQ. Wong Appellate Law Nevada Bar #013284 9484 S. Eastern Ave., #408 Las Vegas, Nevada 89123 (702) 830-6080

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

Electronically Filed

Tracie K. Lindeman

Case No. 65193 Clerk of Supreme Court

Aug 05 2015 03:56 p.m.

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

Next, Appellant alleges that "[e]ven if [this] Court were to find that a plain English construction of intent to keep does not require the intent to keep *permanently*, [this] Court should nevertheless strictly construe *keep* to require a permanent or indefinite keeping in order to avoid absurd and unreasonable results." AOB 13. However, this argument conflicts with this Court's precedent regarding kidnapping, wherein a majority of the upheld Kidnapping convictions did not involve a permanent intent. Isler v. Sheriff, 92 Nev. 248, 250, 548 P.2d 1373, 1374 (1974) (defendant's Kidnapping conviction upheld when he robbed a 7-11 and the victim was driven a mile away from the store and released); Hutchins v. State, 110 Nev. 103, 106, 867 P.2d 1136, 1138 (1994) (affirming defendant's Kidnapping conviction when he dragged victim through her apartment, bound her, raped her, then left); Garcia v. State, 121 Nev. 327, 331, 113 P.3d 836, 839 (2005) (upholding a Kidnapping conviction when the defendants robbed the victims, ordered them outside, bound them up, then fled after ransacking the store). Further, were this

Court to conclude that a person can only be convicted of First Degree Kidnapping if they intend to permanently keep someone, this would lead to absurd results because, for example, the typical kidnapping, taking someone for ransom, would no longer be considered kidnapping because the defendant did not intend to permanently keep them, but intended to keep them for ransom.

Finally, Appellant contends that if "intent to keep" is construed broadly, then it would be unconstitutional under the Fourteenth Amended as vague and overbroad. AOB 16-18. Again, as discussed above, the language of NRS 200.310 is plain on its face, and Appellant fails to provide any legal authority to support this contention. Additionally, while Appellant claims that "a prosecutor could bring charges against almost anyone in this State who cares for another person's child," this is absurd and can be distinguished from the facts of the instant case because in Appellant's hypothetical the person that is caring for another person's child would have had permission to take and care for the child. In the instant case, Appellant did not have permission to take Michael Joshua from his legal guardians.

Accordingly, Appellant fails to demonstrate that the State committed prosecutorial misconduct as it pertained to NRS 200.310.

II. APPELLANT'S ARGUMENT THAT NRS 200.310 DOES NOT APPLY TO NONCUSTODIAL PARENTS IS INCONSISTENT WITH HIS PRETRIAL PETITION AND WAS NOT PROPERLY PRESERVED, AND FURTHER, IS BELIED BY THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF NRS 200.310

Appellant claims that the Kidnapping statute, NRS 200.310, "is ambiguous and should not apply to the keeping away of a minor from one parent or guardian by another." AOB 19.

This is inconsistent with the position Appellant took in his pretrial writ, wherein he alleged that "a noncustodial parent attempting to remove a minor will be found guilty of Kidnapping where it is clear he removed the minor from his or her custodial parents with the intent to keep or imprison such minor from the lawful custodial parents." Respondent's Appendix 6. Thus, Appellant cannot now change his position on appeal. <u>See Ford v. Warden</u>, 111 Nev. 872, 884, 901 P.2d 123, 130 (1995) (noting that an appellant cannot change her theory underlying an assignment of error on appeal). Further, Appellant again failed to raise this issue before the district court at trial, thus it is again considered waived. <u>Leonard</u>, 117 Nev. at 63, 17 P.3d at 403.

To the extent that this Court wishes to address this issue, NRS 200.310 is not ambiguous. In fact, the plain language states "a *person* who leads, takes . . . any minor with the intent to keep, imprison or confine the minor from his or her parents, guardians, or any other person having lawful custody of the minor" If the Legislature intended to prevent biological parents, who did not have custody of their biological child, from being charged with Kidnapping under NRS 200.310, it could have included such limiting language. Further, this Court has already concluded that a parent can be convicted of Kidnapping their child, so long as the evidence demonstrates the elements of NRS 200.310. <u>Hernandez v. State</u>, 118 Nev. 513, 524-25, 50 P.3d 1100, 1108 (2002) (overruled in part on other grounds by <u>Armenta-Carpio v. State</u>, 129 Nev. ____, 306 P.3d 395, 398 (2013); <u>Sheriff, Washoe County v. Dhadda</u>, 115 Nev. 175, 183, 980 P.2d 1062, 1066-67 (1999). In fact, in <u>Dhadda</u>, this Court concluded that a parent, *with legal custody*, could commit kidnapping of her child. 115 Nev. at 183, 980 P.2d at 1066-67.

Appellant further tries to compare NRS 200.310 to NRS 200.359 in an attempt to demonstrate that NRS 200.310 should not apply to parents. AOB 21-24. It appears that Appellant is arguing that he should have been charged with 200.359, which he contends is more applicable to a situation such as his. <u>Id</u>. However, Appellant's claim is incorrect. First, NRS 200.359 is not applicable to Appellant's situation as it specifically applies to parents who have limited legal custody rights and Appellant has no legal custody over Michael Joshua. 2 AA 474; 3 AA 688-90. Although Appellant attempts to argue that because he is Michael Joshua's biological father he is somehow allowed to disregard the custodial parent's' wishes, however, in the eyes of the law, his kidnapping of Michael Joshua should not be distinguished from a stranger abduction since like a stranger, Appellant had no legal rights to take that child.

III. JURY INSTRUCTIONS

Appellant alleges that the district court abused its discretion by not offering certain jury instructions. AOB 24-25, 28. "The district court has broad discretion to settle jury instructions, and this court reviews the district court's decision for an abuse of that discretion or judicial error." <u>Crawford v. State</u>, 121 Nev. 744, 748, 121 P.3d 582, 585 (2005). Further, the district court only abuses its discretion with regard to jury instructions when the court's "decision is arbitrary or capricious or if it exceeds the bounds of law or reason." <u>Id</u>.

a. APPELLANT WAIVED HIS ARGUMENT REGARDING THE DISTRICT COURT'S FAILURE TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON INCIDENTAL MOVEMENTS

Appellant first contends that the district court abused its discretion when it did not instruct the jury regarding whether kidnapping was "incidental to the child abuse charge." AOB 24-25 (*citing* <u>Mendoza v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 267, 130 P.3d 176 (2006)). However, at trial, Appellant never requested a jury instruction, based on <u>Mendoza</u>, regarding whether the kidnapping was incidental to child abuse. As such, this issue is considered waived on appeal. <u>Garcia v. State</u>, 121 Nev. 327, 334, 113 P.3d 836, 840 (2005); <u>McKenna v. State</u>, 114 Nev. 1044, 1052, 968 P.2d 739, 745 (1998).

Appellant alleges that under <u>Garcia</u>, "[w]here a proposed jury instruction was not offered by the defense, the court's failure to instruct the jury is reviewed for plain error." AOB 24. However, this Court's decision in <u>Garcia</u> is not as broad as

Appellant proposes. In Garcia, this Court stated that the defendant "failed to offer a proposed instruction informing the jury that the false imprisonment counts could not be based on facts that are incidental to the charged robbery if a robbery conviction was returned." 121 Nev. at 334, 113 P.3d at 840. This Court concluded that "[f]ailure to offer a proposed instruction in this situation ordinarily waived the issue for appellate review." Id. However, this Court then stated that the defendant's robbery conviction violated its holding in Jefferson v. State, 95 Nev. 577, 579-80, 599 P.2d 1043, 1044 (1979), which concluded that a conviction for second degree kidnapping could not exist if the movement was not "over and above" that required to complete the robbery (or the associated crime). Id. As such, this Court decided to review this issue under plain error. Id. However, Appellant's situation is different from Garcia, because this case does not involve movement pertaining to a kidnapping and robbery conviction in violation of Jefferson, but instead, involves a kidnapping and child abuse conviction. As such, Appellant failed to preserve this claim.

But, to the extent that this Court wishes to address it under plain error review, Appellant's claim is without merit and the district court was not required to sua sponte instruct the jury regarding whether the kidnapping was incidental to the child abuse. This Court clarified the state of the law regarding kidnapping and associated offenses in <u>Mendoza</u>. This Court concluded, after analyzing its previous precedent,² as follows:

. . . where the movement or restraint serves to substantially increase the risk of harm to the victim over and above that necessarily present in an associated offense, i.e., robbery, extortion, battery resulting in substantial bodily harm or sexual assault, or where the seizure, restraint or movement of the victim substantially exceeds that required to complete the associated crime charged, dual conviction under the kidnapping and robbery statutes are proper.

<u>Mendoza</u>, 122 Nev. at 274-75, 130 P.3d at 180. Further, this Court ruled that "dual culpability is permitted where the movement, seizure or restraint stands alone with independent significance from the underlying charge. <u>Id</u>. at 275, 130 P.3d at 181. However, "movement or restraint incidental to an underlying offense where restraint or movement is inherent, as a general matter, will not expose the defendant to dual criminal liability under either the first- or second-degree kidnapping statutes." <u>Id</u>. at 274, 130 P.3d at 180.

The district court did not commit plain error when it did not sua sponte instruct the jury on incidental movements regarding Appellant's child abuse and Kidnapping charges. First, the testimony clearly showed that the child abuse was completed

²This Court considered <u>Wright v. State</u>, 94 Nev. 415, 581 P.2d 442 (1978); <u>Hutchins</u> <u>v. State</u>, 110 Nev. 103, 867 P.2d 1136 (1994); <u>Clem v. State</u>, 104 Nev. 351, 760 P.2d 103 (1988); <u>Jefferson v. State</u>, 95 Nev. 577, 599 P.2d 1044 (1979); and <u>Garcia v. State</u>, 121 Nev. 327, 113 P.3d 836 (2005).

prior to the kidnapping, thus the movements were not incidental. Appellant grabbed Michael Joshua from behind and placed him in a "choke hold," such that Michael Joshua could not breathe. 2 AA 491-92. Michael Joshua was then able to break the choke hold. 2 AA 494. At this point, the child abuse was complete. Appellant then grabbed onto Michael Joshua and pushed him outside, using his knee, and threw him in the car. 2 AA 495-96. These subsequent movements provided the basis for the Kidnapping charge. Thus, the movements for the child abuse were completed and separate from the movements for the Kidnapping charge. This demonstrates that the kidnapping movement "substantially exceeds that required to complete" the child abuse. Mendoza, 122 Nev. at 274-75, 130 P.3d at 180. Finally, the kidnapping movements (taking Michael Joshua from inside his guardians' house to Appellant's car) "serves to substantially increase the risk of harm to [Michael Joshua] over and above that necessarily present" in child abuse. Id. Even though Appellant abused Michael Joshua inside the house while his guardians were present, one can only imagine what he would have done to Michael Joshua had he been successful in getting Michael Joshua into his vehicle and leaving the premises. Further, the State presented testimony that Appellant was impaired at this time, which further increases the risk of harm to Michael Joshua if Appellant had driven while impaired. Thus, there was much greater risk of additional injury to Michael had he been removed

16

completely from his guardians. Accordingly, the district court did not commit plain error when it did not sua sponte instruct the jury.

Even if this Court determines that the district court should have instructed the jury as Appellant alleges, the district court's failure to do so was harmless error.³ Since the evidence demonstrated that the kidnapping was not incidental to the child abuse, it is clear that the error did not substantially affect the jury's verdict. <u>Chapman</u>, 386 U.S. at 1189, 87 S.Ct. at 476.

b. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION FOR DECLINING TO INCLUDE A LACK OF CONSENT ELEMENT TO JURY INSTRUCTION NO. 10

Appellant argues that the district court abused its discretion in "refusing to instruct the jury regarding one of the defense theories, namely that the guardians' lack of consent is an element of first-degree kidnapping of a minor." AOB 28.

At trial, Appellant objected to Jury Instruction No. 10, claiming that it was not a correct statement of law. 4 AA 935-43. Instruction 10 provided a definition of

³When the alleged misconduct is of a constitutional nature, this Court applies the <u>Chapman v. California</u>, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S.Ct. 824 (1967), harmless error standard, and will not reverse if "the State demonstrates, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the error did not contribute to the verdict." <u>Id</u>. at 1189, 196 P.3d at 476. Alternatively, when the alleged error is not constitutional, this Court "will reverse only if the error substantially affects the jury's verdict." <u>Id</u>. The nature of the alleged misconduct determines whether the error is or is not constitutional. <u>Id</u>. at 1189, 196 P.3d at 477. "Whether these distinctions make a significant difference in the ultimate analysis of harmlessness may be the subject of some debate," but there are nonetheless two standards. <u>Id</u>.

kidnapping.⁴ 5 AA 1196. Appellant further argued that it was not correct because it did not explain that if a person has permission to take the minor, then it was not kidnapping. 4 AA 935-43. The district court denied Appellant's objection, finding that Instruction 10 was a correct statement of law and Appellant could argue that he had permission to take Michael Joshua during closing arguments. 4 AA 942-43. In closing arguments, the State made it clear that kidnapping was "taking [Michael Joshua] away without the permission of his lawful guardians," and argued that Michael Joshua's legal guardians "never gave consent." 5 AA 1136, 1167. Appellant likewise argued that he had permission to take Michael Joshua to the store with him. 5 AA 1142-45.

Appellant fails to demonstrate that the district court abused its discretion in denying his objection to Instruction 10. Instruction 10 is a correct statement of law, as it uses the exact relevant language from Nevada's Kidnapping statute, NRS 200.310. <u>Compare 5 AA 1196 and NRS 200.310</u>. Further, the district court's

5 AA 1196.

⁴Instruction 10 provided as follows:

Every person who leads, takes, entices, or carries away, or detains, any minor, with the intent to keep, imprison, or confine the minor from his parents, guardians, or any other person having lawful custody of the minor is guilty of kidnapping in the first degree.

A kidnapping does not require force.

decision not to amend Instruction 10 to include a permission/consent element was the correct decision as this language is not part of NRS 200.310. Thus, the district court appropriately ruled that Instruction 10 was a correct statement of the law and it was made clear to Appellant that he was free to argue permission/consent based on the language of the statute, thereby presenting his theory of the defense. It should be noted that Appellant did just that in his closing argument.⁵ 5 AA 1142-45. As such, the district court did not abuse its discretion in this regard.

Even if the district court should have amended Instruction 10 to include consent/permission, the district court's failure to do so was harmless. <u>Neder v.</u> <u>United States</u>, 527 U.S. 1, 8-9, 119 S.Ct. 1827, 1833 (1999) (holding that "an instruction that omits an element of the offense" is subject to harmless error review because it "does not *necessarily* render a criminal trial fundamentally unfair or an unreliable vehicle for determining guilt or innocence"). The parties specifically argued this to the jury, and both parties agreed that if Appellant had permission, then he should not be convicted of kidnapping. Further, several witnesses testified about whether Appellant had permission to take Michael Joshua. As such, the failure to instruct the jury on the permission issue was harmless as it was discussed throughout trial and in closing arguments.

⁵It is worth noting that Appellant could have provided permission/consent theory instructions to the district court, but chose not to.

IV. THE STATE PRESENTED SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT APPELLANT'S KIDNAPPING CONVICTION

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